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Except the LORD build the house, they labour in vain that build it:
Psa. 127:1

One thing have I desired of the LORD, that will I seek after; 
that I may dwell in the house of the LORD all the days of my life,
 to behold the beauty of the LORD,
 and to inquire in his temple.

Psa. 27:4

Understanding the History and Heritage
------------------------------------------of our Assembly History.

Preamble

This is not the History of the Beginnings of Assembly Work in the early nineteenth


century, nor is it a History of Assembly work in Penang beginning from 1855,


though it does touch briefly on both in passing. This is essentially the 

History of Buildings – the one at 35 Farquhar Street when assembly work first 

commenced in, and the present one at 164 Burmah Road, Penang. Together they testify 

to a history of more than 143 years – with Burmah Road Gospel Hall (BRGH) accounting   for 59 years since May 25, 1938. We are entering into the 60th year. By right, the 60th Anniversary should be next year.
This History is unique in a sense. The writer has never come across any account narrating the history of the two buildings and their grounds, though there are a couple relating to the history of the work at both places mainly by Mr. SS Adams (and officially published by Echoes of Service in their 11-volume set That The World May Know, Vol. No. 5 – The Mysterious Far East), and very briefly touched upon by Dr. GD James in his book Journeys through Malaysia.
This History is the first to give an account of what the Farquhar Street Chapel and Mission House were like before the church there moved to Burmah Road Hall, and to describe the changes the latter underwent since the building was put up. There are few records and photographs of the early days of these two places. It is with the intention of tracing the changes these buildings went through over the years that this initial attempt is made, with the hope that the more senior Christians who were once associated with them, and who can fill in the missing pieces, will come forward and contribute their share to the appreciation of past history by future generations.
At a time, when the authorities and people in our country are seeking to treasure their Heritage buildings and conserve them for future generations to study and to appreciate, it is more timely than ever, that we initiate this record to preserve and conserve (if not the Heritage of these physical buildings, at least their History). Today, the original building of Farquhar Street Mission House is still standing, though the Mission Chapel had been pulled down after Burmah Road Hall was ready for occupation.

The irony of the whole situation is this: while the country and some Conservation Heritage Groups are going around preserving the historical buildings in the State, one that has a history of more than a century is allowed to rot, rust and fall into ruins. It is a wonder that after having bought up this site nearly forty years ago, the then and present owners have done nothing to it. Is this the Lord’s way of preserving the building for this present generation of BRGH Christians to see? – it is only a far-fetched conjecture. Even so, how many of us have taken a peep into this tangible history still secured in this old building?
The greater irony is that even Burmah Road Gospel Hall may see its last days as it gives way to development, if the authorities approve the plan to demolish it and replace it with a new, perhaps, high-tech and multi-purpose building.

BRGH came through the dark days of the Japanese occupation intact. It was not taken over or destroyed by the Japanese authorities because it was claimed to be local property, built by gifts of the local Christians and did not belong to the British. By that time the foreign missionaries had been evacuated from Penang. Mr. Wilson Wang, Mr. Tan Wah Kim, Mr. Samuel and Mr. Ingram stayed back to “defend” it from a Japanese take-over. They would have given their lives for its preservation, as they “manned” the building when all others had fled to the countryside. In a wonderful way the Lord had preserved it when so many other properties were confiscated by the Japanese. Does the present generation value past history and what these great men of God did at the risk of their lives to want to preserve it now?
In a way, the BRGH building is unique in a sense – it is the only building of its type and design among all the formal buildings in Penang. It is simple yet dignified. It is practical and yet not formal. It is spacious, but not luxurious. It is a treasure trove of history, and yet not out-dated or old-fashioned.

It is a building not without a heart –

Our Burmah Road Gospel Hall
The Beginnings of…

1. The Assemblies of brethren in History.
a. 1825-1830 marks the commencement of the movement involving many believers in small groups, in diverse villages, towns, cities and countries, meeting simply, and inconspicuously, spontaneously and simultaneously in many regions, each unaware of the existence of others, around the same period from as early as 1907.

In southwest England a group comprising B.W. Newton, J. N. Darby, G.W Wigram and Captain P.F. Hall met in Plymouth, whilst George Muller and Henry Craik and another small group met in Bristol, and Robert Chapman and Robert Gribble met with groups in Barnstaple.

b. 1829, June 12. Anthony N. Groves, was its 1st Missionary to Petersburg, Russia then to Baghdad and India.

c. 1833. There was a Conference at Plymouth and the nickname “Plymouth Brethren” was first used there. However, this was not accepted by the Christians then. Today the more conservative among them prefer to be known as “brethren” or “believers”, or “saints” – not even “Christian Brethren”.

2. The Assembly of Believers in Penang.
a. 1855. Assembly work commenced in 1855 in Penang when Mr. Bausum of Swiss assemblies began to work here. [This is now questioned. See the research article by Jean Benardi on this website.] He later married the mother of the first Mrs. Hudson Taylor. [That The World May Know, Vol. 5, pg. 167, published in 1984 by Echoes of Service]
b. 1859. Mr. & Mrs. John Chapman left Bristol for Penang. At first they were believed to be pioneers of assembly work in Penang. Thus, it was reported in Straits Echo, May 1959, in an article connected with the Celebration of Centenary of Gospel Work in Penang, as follows:


In the year 1859 their first missionary in Malaya, Mr. Chapman, was sent from Bristol at the suggestion of the famous George Muller (founder of the Muller Orphanages). He was the first of a long line of missionaries sent to Malaya by Christian Missions in Many Lands – the name by which “brethren” missionary effort is known. This group now has over 1200 missionaries in its world-wide field.


When Mr. & Mrs. Chapman reached Penang in 1859, they would have found at least two other centres of Christian worship: St. George’s Church and the London Missionary Society/. The latter occupied the site (that now) stands at Farquhar Street, having commenced their work in 1847. Mr. & Mrs. Bausum of the L.M.S. bought that sight and erected a home and school for girls. However, the L.M.S. withdrew their personnel in 1853… After their first furlough, Mr. & Mrs. Chapman did not return to Penang (but moved to South Africa), their places being taken by Mr. & Mrs. MacDonald who came from U.K. in 1866.


When the L.M.S. left in 1853, apparently, Mr. Bausum, who was from the assembly himself [This is also questioned in Jean Benardi’s article.] stayed back and started formal assembly work in 1855, and informed the Echoes of Service in a letter to them.

c. 1875. The present site was transferred to Mr. MacDonald.
d. 1876. MacDonald built the Mission Chapel, and a few years later the existing Mission House. This Chapel was in use until 1938, when Burmah Road Hall was opened. It was believed to be pulled down the next year.

3. The Assembly Believers at Burmah Road Gospel Hall.
a. 1938 May 25
i. Following is the original invitation to the opening of Burmah Road Gospel Hall:


We, the Christians of Farquhar Street Chapel, are glad to announce our new “Burmah Road Hall” opening on Wednesday afternoon May the 25th 1938 at the following hours,



Chinese (Hokkien) meeting at 
3.30



Tea 
…
…
…
…



4.45



English Meeting
…
…



5.45


We would value the presence of Church friends with us at the opening meeting to unite in the thanksgiving to God and in prayer that the building may ever be to the glory of God, in the salvation and upbuilding of souls.


From May the 25th onward, all services now held in Farquhar Street Chapel will be held in the Burmah Road Hall.
Heb. 10:25




[From the Programme Sheet]
ii. Following is an Extract from the Straits Echo of May, 1959.

The present Burmah Road Hall was built by the gifts of local members, and the church in its various activities is fully indigenous. This explains why it was able to carry on in the dark days of the Japanese occupation. It is a fixed principle of “brethren” churches that the local congregation is self-supporting and self-governing and is no way controlled from elsewhere.


The viewpoint of this church is not that of a denomination, but it is (to) return to the simplicity of the church in its beginnings, with the emphasis on the essential unity of all disciples of Christ… Burmah Road Hall’s centenary is to be enhanced by the erection of a chapel in Butterworth which is to be completed in August.

b. 1959, May 25 Burmah Road Gospel Hall to Celebrate Centenary of Gospel Work.

The above is the title of the article which appeared in The Straits Echo of May, 
1959. 
The accompanying article reported:


Christians who worship in the Burmah Road Gospel Hall, Penang will celebrate 
the 
centenary of their church on May 23. Special thanksgiving services are planned 
for that 
day and the week following.


Dr. GD James conducted a Gospel Campaign in connection with the celebration.

c. 1970, May 23
32nd Anniversary of Burmah Road Gospel Hall

The English- and Chinese-speaking assemblies came together to celebrate the 32nd Anniversary of Burmah Road Gospel Hall. At that time, the two assemblies were still under one oversight. The two assemblies had separate oversights commencing from 1st July, 1979, but they continued to share the same building and the expenses incurred. This practice continues to today.

d. 1988, May 28
Church’s Golden Anniversary.


The above is the title of an article that appeared in The STAR on Friday, May 27, 1988

Christians of the Burmah Road Gospel Hall (BRGH) will be celebrating the Golden Anniversary of their church building tomorrow. They will also be rejoicing over the 133 years of their church’s work here.
Some $20,000.00 had been spent to spruce up the 50-year-old building. Coloured bulbs and an illuminated arch over the façade give the church an air of festivity. Celebration committee chairman, Mr. Ung Kim Cheng, a church elder, said the highlight of the celebration would be a special thanksgiving service on May 28 at 3.30p.m. at the Gospel Hall. This would be followed by a buffet dinner the same night for some 600 members.

Souvenir files containing the history of the Gospel (Hall) will be on sale. Those who were present at the church’s first meeting place at 35 Farquhar Street would be accorded a red-carpet welcome. They will each receive a souvenir file and a rosette. The souvenir file and a souvenir mug – one for each family – will also be given to those who turn up for the May 25 to 27 (for English-speaking assemblies) and May 29 to 31 (for the Chinese-speaking assemblies) at the BRGH at 8.00p.m. nightly. There will be a photo exhibition on the history of the Burmah Road Gospel Hall at the Sunday School wing from May 25 to 31.

e. 1998, May 24 Burmah Road Gospel Hall 60th Anniversary.
The 60th Anniversary was celebrated separately by the two assemblies now occupying its precincts. The Chinese-speaking assembly celebrated the occasion on the 17th May, following their Malaysian Elders and Leaders Conference with a Thanksgiving Service and a buffet dinner at BRGH grounds. They took the opportunity to launch their new Building Fund then. Participants donated free-will gifts for their dinner.
They also made available to those who gave RM100.00 and more, a beautiful  4”x5”x4” porcelain replica of Burmah Road Gospel Hall building which also served as a coin-box for the owners to further donate their coins in the future. Credit must be given to our Chinese-speaking brethren for this indigenous idea to preserve the memory of Burmah Road Gospel Hall.


The English-speaking assembly celebrated the occasion on 24th May, also with a Thanksgiving Service and a buffet dinner but given free to all participants in appreciation of their sacrifice in giving very generously to their Building Fund which was launched a couple of years ago. All elders and deacons of their “daughter” assemblies in Penang, as well as all former members were also invited. The guest speaker for both these occasions was Dr. Don Nichols who stayed at 35 Farquhar Street in the early 1950’s.

The Buildings at…
1. 35 Farquhar Street.
a. Its Location

i. It is one of two almost similarly designed buildings, still standing today, though broken down.
ii. It faces Farquhar Street with its back entrance leading to Penang Road. The front is next to Lim Lean Teng Mansions, opposite the new E & O Hotel Extension, while the narrow back entrance stands between the two sections of the Lowe Motors on the Penang Road side. Both the entrances are now blocked by sediments and rubbish and the only access to it is via the grounds of its neighbour at 33 Farquhar Street.
iii. Originally it comprised of two main buildings – the Farquhar Street Mission Chapel and the Mission House. The Chapel had been demolished leaving only the Mission House today.

b. Its Description
i. From what can be observed today, it is a two-storey wooden building with a small garden in front. There is a wall about five feet high with a gate preventing anyone from entering the premises. As pointed out earlier, the gate is now blocked by sediment and rubbish so that access must be via 33 Farquhar Street. This is the Mission House.
ii. As for the building itself then, its wide three-sided arched patio spread the whole width of the building. The downstairs was divided into two main compartments. On the right side of the building (looking in from Farquhar Street) was the dining hall, while to the left was a School-room (as it was called then) used for Scripture classes when preparing students for the Cambridge examinations. (This was the room where the writer and four other young people were interviewed by Mr. SS Adams for baptism).


There were pews in this room but without a piano or organ. This was where the 
Lord’s Supper was held every Sunday and the absence of a musical instrument is obvious. The entrance to it was via the front room and through a side entrance. The room itself had no main entrance apart from this.

iii. On the right side of the patio was a flight of stairs that led to the living room upstairs which overhanged the patio downstairs. This room was sparsely furnished with furniture made by prisoners. (Mr. SS Adams had a work going on among the prisoners then.) On both sides upstairs were rooms with a narrow corridor in between. The rooms were for the missionaries to stay in. However, one of the rooms also served as a kitchenette. One day, a pressure cooker exploded in the kitchenette to the alarm of Mrs. Adams staying there. The shutter windows in the rooms were without screens and the missionaries staying there had to use mosquito coils and nets. At the back, there was another flight of stairs leading downstairs.

iv. The extension to the main building at the back, and leading to the Penang Road entrance, was the servants’ quarters where most of the cooking and laundry was done. It was here that the bicycles were kept. The writer still remembers Mr. Arnold Clarke using a squeaky, creaky and ram-shackled old bicycle without a chain case, (so that he had to fold up the ends of his trousers) to cycle to Burmah Road Hall rain or shine for meetings, and to play games with the young people.

v. The Mission Chapel had been a small building in front of the Mission House. It stood perpendicular to the patio, and its whole length covered the distance from just in front of the patio to the present wall which was not there at the beginning. In fact, there was open space all round, so that the entrance to the Chapel itself was almost right at the road side. Members who had cars then parked them on the opposite side of the road, where the E & O Extension now stands.

· The Chapel itself was a rectangular wooden building with typical “Gothic-style” arched windows stretching almost the whole height of the building. There were three or four on either side with wooden railings on the bottom half. The “doors” to these windows were tall wooden shutters. The Chapel itself had two entrances, one in front facing Farquhar Street and the other at the back facing the Mission House. From the front there were two or three steps that led from the road to the Mission House. The floor was big red cement slabs or tiles.

· On entering the Chapel from the front, there was a big wooden screen confronting the visitor. The screen could double up as a notice board too. The visitor passed on either side of the screen into the interior.

Inside there were about five to six rows of wooden pews with rattan seats (not unlike those in BRGH now) in the middle facing the pulpit, and three rows of pews facing each other on either side. Below the pulpit was the baptistery. On the left side was the Bellow organ which Mrs. Hardwich used to play. Only the Gospel Meeting on Sunday evening was held in the chapel, while the Lord’s Supper was held in the School Room inside. The reasons seemed to be that the School Room adjacent to the Mission House was more isolated from the traffic noise outside and also, having no other entrances besides the one at the side, it gave a more cosy atmosphere to the fellowship.
· In 1939, a year after the church had moved to Burmah Road Hall, the Chapel was demolished on the order of the authorities to widen the road outside and to build a pavement in front. Consequently, a wall was built to give privacy to the Mission House after the Chapel had been pulled down. The present front wall would have been the front of the Chapel. To put the bricks of the demolished Chapel pillars and certain other brick sections into good use, they were transferred to Burmah Road Hall to build part of the Mission House there.  “The missionaries used to laugh as they jested, ‘The Mission House (at BRH) was built with the bricks left over from the Gospel Chapel!!’” – so recalled Dr. John Nichols who stayed at Farquhar Street in the early 50’s.
2. 164 Burmah Road
a. Its Address and Name

Its address was always given as “Burmah Road Hall (At the Cnr. Of Burmah Road and Chow Thye Road)”. This was used in the official stamp and letterhead of the Hall. It was only later that its name was changed to Burmah Road Gospel Hall at the suggestion of Mr. SS Adams to distinguish it from the many types of halls existing at that time, e.g. cabaret hall, dance hall, dining hall, etc.

b. Its Area.

i. The building itself stood on a big piece of land 59,461 sq. ft. with the monsoon drain in Burmah Road and the drain in Chow Thye Road as the boundary lines to the front and left of the area then. This was the original area of the land before the authorities asked the BRH to surrender 5 ft. from the Burmah Road side and 7 ft. from the Chow Thye Road side to make pavements for the public at our own expense. The original “tea-leaves” fencing in front was right up to the monsoon drain then, and round the corner to skirt all the way along Chow Thye Road. It seems that if our plans for the new building are to be approved later, we may have to set back the fencing another twenty-eight feet to provide for a service road of thirty-three feet in front, while the building line on the Chow Thye Road side is set back another 25 feet in addition to the seven feet that has been taken away!

ii. On the left side (looking in from Burmah Road) there were “frangipani” trees with  “temple flowers”, as they were commonly known then because of temple worshippers who liked to use them as offerings to their deities. These trees are still standing and are unique in that the flowers are of various hues. On the right was a field of coconut trees. Years later, some of these trees were chopped down to erect a temporary shed to house the Sunday School kindergarten class for the Chinese-speaking assembly. It also doubled up for the young people to play games and roller-skate on the cement floor. Situated at the back were the ladies and Gents toilets and to the left was a wooden bicycle shed with a cement floor – a necessity at that time as the ubiquitous cycle was the popular mode of transport. On other occasions, the shed was used for recreation – a ping-pong table was located there. On Sundays, it was used by the Chinese Sunday School to house the English-speaking class. Last year, its roof collapsed due to an attack of white ants.

iii. On the other side to the right, some distance away from the Ladies’ Toilet. Stood a temporary attap shelter. It was occupied by a very faithful, elderly “hunch-back” brother from the Chinese assembly who served as a caretaker of the Hall. His name was Am-bak. He lived alone by himself seemingly without any kith or kin. Mr. SS Adams had picked him up from the streets to give him this “home” in the church compound. Am-bak was very grateful to him for saving him from a wretched life outside. Up to the time of his death, he remained very faithful to the Lord and to the assembly.

iv. At the front of the building, there were big trees with beautiful flowers of bright colours providing shade for the Chinese-speaking Sunday School classes which were held in the open in the late fifties and early sixties, while the adults had their meetings in the building.
c. Its Architecture inside.

The inside of the present building has changed much from the original one.

i. The inside then consisted of the main hall with four rooms at its four corners. These rooms had sliding wooden-pannelled partitions which could open up for a bigger gathering. The rooms served as Sunday School classes for the English-speaking Sunday School which was held from 4.30 to 5.30p.m. The Gospel Meeting followed every Sunday at 6.00p.m. Other Sunday School classes were held in the bicycle shed and in the open grounds. Miss Martha Samuel’s class was just outside the room to the right of the baptistery (looking in from Burmah Road). The rooms in front also functioned as changing rooms during a baptism.

ii. At the front stood a wide and raised wooden pulpit for the preacher. The one we see now is the original. The floor in front of the pulpit then was level with that of the congregation. On the right sight was the Bellow organ – very tedious to play, as the organist had to step on the pedals to “pump in” the wind to make the music – however, Mrs. Dorothy Tan managed to squeeze from it melodious music that enlivened the meetings of the assembly each Sunday. Apart from this organ there was a small harmonium (piano type) where the poor pianist also had to pedal very hard. This was used for smaller meetings or taken out for public open-air meetings. The Bellow Organ was later sidelined to give way to a Hammond electronic organ. However, even this became disused when spare microchip parts could not be found to replace the spoilt ones. It is still lying in one corner in the wings of the building. The assembly finally opted for the present baby grand piano. 
iii. On both sides of the building were three swinging doors. At one time, these doors were barred to discourage members from entering or exiting from the sides. All had to enter by the main door. This had two advantages, viz. 1) the elders and leaders got to shake hands with and know their members, 2) it discouraged late-comers as they had to walk all the way to the front when the seats were taken up at the back.

iv. Later, as the assembly grew the sliding partitions at the two wings at the back were removed permanently to give more space to the main hall. The main hall then had three rows of five-seater pews with two aisles in between.
v. For the Centenary Celebration in May 1959, Mrs. Cheah Inn Kiong donated a new set of six-seater pews with rattan seats (the present ones) and a new table to place the elements for the observance of the Lord’s Supper. The original five-seater pews were then given to Butterworth Gospel Hall, and they are still being used today, though the oversight there has replaced the rattan seats with plywood seats. In the same year (1959) in August, the Butterworth Gospel Hall opened its doors for the first time officially.

vi. The frontage in the building changed conspicuously for the Golden Anniversary celebrations, as follows:
· Curtains were put up at the front hiding a white board. Now the board can be used when the curtains are drawn apart. There was also a roll-up screen in front with fluorescent tubes to light up the width of the hall. Previously it was just a blank cream-coloured wall.

· A three-step platform was constructed in the empty space in front, and the level of the baptistery raised so that those baptized can now be seen from the back. Previously this part of the floor was level with the main floor.

· Extra lamps and spot lights were added to brighten up the main hall and the front stage. The row of fluorescent lamps in the middle were new additions; likewise two ceiling fans at the back.

· More electrical points were installed for use of audio visual equipment in front and at the sides.

· The sliding wooden partitions facing the front part of the hall on both sides were replaced with sliding one-way glass windows with the intention of turning one of the wings into an air-con crèche for children later.

· A better sound system was also installed.

· New red carpets replaced the old ones and a baby grand piano was purchased.

d. Its Annex
i. The Mission House


The BRGH Mission House was completely financed from the sale of 35 Farquhar Street which was the property of the Stewards’ Trust at Bath, England. It was built in 1961 at a cost of about $40,000.00 with the surplus of the sale (about $28,000.00) going to the construction of the Mission House at Butterworth completed on 30th October, 1976 at a cost of RM70,056.92.

The Mission House was built on BRGH ground (a local property) with the permission of the local oversight, and with the understanding that it would be the property of BRGH, when “foreign resident” missionaries no more came this way. In the meanwhile, visiting “foreign” missionaries would be given priority to stay at the Mission House when needed. When this need was no more, the use of the Mission House would be the sole decision of the local oversight. With the independence of Malaya, and later Malaysia, fewer or no missionaries were allowed to visit the country any more. The last “resident” missionary to stay in the Mission House were Mr. & Mrs. W. Wilson. It is now regard as the property of BRGH.

The Mission House was designed to the taste of a typical British person with a big dining hall on the right (looking in from Burmah Road), a spacious living room on the left, two servants’ quarters at the back and a garage adjoining it. As with the old Mission House at Farquhar Street, above the dining and living rooms, are a big master bed-room and two other smaller rooms for guests. Adjacent to the living room downstairs are a spare room and a toilet. The room for a short time became the “home” of Mr. SS Adams, while waiting for the Mission House in Butterworth to be ready, before he moved over there.
While the Mission House was designed by Mr. SS Adams, its first occupants were Mr. & Mrs. A.E. Phillips, and later, joined by their daughter, Ruth. Mr. SS Adams returned to Australia on furlough and when he came back to the local shores, he decided to work in Butterworth. However, he had made provision her locally adopted daughter, Susan to stay in one of the two rooms at the back of the Mission House. (She is still staying there now.)

Mr. Phillips found the dining room too large for his liking, and converted half of it (the front – the present BRGH Office) into the Christian Book Centre (CBC) – the first in Penang to sell Christian books and literature.

When The Evangel came into the scene, the CBC decided to close down in order not to give it any competition, as both were from the assemblies. In a way the BRGH Christians lost out because big discounts no more came their way, but they benefited from a wider range of books to choose from. Later, the Chinese-speaking assembly converted this space into their office, while the English-speaking assembly made use of the hall of the Mission House for their relocated Fettes Park Sunday School and the BRGH Sunday School in order that the combined Sunday School could be held in the morning. In the afternoon, the children were too much attracted by the newly introduced television telecasts to want to attend Sunday School.

ii. The Sunday School Annex

The Sunday School Annex was built in 1956 to make provision for the expansion of the Sunday Schools in both the English- and Chinese-speaking assemblies. It replaced the temporary attap structures parallel to the main hall and brought some “modernization” to the “Countryside” – a name given to the grounds because of the many coconut trees on it.
The Annex was built with proper classroom dimensions which could serve as kindergarten classes or as a day-school should the need arise later. The collapsible partitions of the rooms could slide aside to form a hall. Lining the whole length of the Annex outside were “acacia” trees which gave shade to the building. However, recently all these trees have been chopped down because the roots have been breaking up the foundations of the building.

Today the BRGH grounds has been roughly divided into two between the two assemblies for their individual expansion work. The English-speaking assembly has been allotted the Mission House half of the grounds, while the Chinese-speaking assembly takes the half where the present BRGH building now stands.

In the plans submitted to the City Council authorities, the English-speaking assembly plans to demolish the Mission House and replaces it with a modern building that can house 150 to 250 people when fully opened. It has rooms for visiting speakers, meetings, classes and various utility rooms beside a multi-purpose hall. The estimate cost is over a million Malaysian Ringgit. 
The Chinese-speaking assembly has a more ambitious plan. They intend to pull down the present building and put a bigger and taller one with multi-purpose functions and use.

The 60th Anniversary of Burmah Road Gospel Hall

may be the last memorable occasion

the members of the two assemblies may celebrate

the grand History and Heritage

in the preset building.
Building On…

Where do we go from here?

Buildings are not important – they come up and they go down. The Church which gathers in these buildings is important. It is founded on the Rock that cannot be moved, nor can “the gates of hell prevail against it”.  Matt. 16:18

In their plans for the future, both the English-speaking and the Chinese-speaking assemblies will either be meeting in new or renovated buildings soon. They had worked and co-operated well all these years from the days of Farquhar Street as one assembly in one building to 1971, when they functioned as independent assemblies in one building. But the time is coming, even this will cease, and the two assemblies will be meeting in two different buildings. While this may be so, it is hoped that the History of working together and the Heritage of Goodwill and Understanding that has been inherited and passed down from one generation to another will continue in future generations, for after all,

We are ONE CHURCH on earth.

May we carry on as such to the Glory of God.

Let us HOLD FAST TO THE FAITH that has been passed down:

Keep the ordinances, as I delivered them to you.


I Cor. 11:2
Stand fast, and hold the traditions which ye have been taught, 
whether by word, or our epistle.
II Thes. 2:15

Behold, I come quickly: hold that fast which thou hast, 
that no man take thy crown.
Rev. 3:11

Editor’s Note: The History was prepared hurriedly to coincide with the occasion of the 60th Anniversary of Burmah Road Gospel Hall. It is not intended to be the final edition. It will be updated from time to time. It contains possible errors of facts and dates. The writer will appreciate very greatly if members will inform him of any relevant information that can be inserted into the final edition of this History in future. If a reader can give a date to any event mentioned, please inform him. Any document (photographic or otherwise) related to the History will be invaluable. It is hoped that photographic and graphic documents will be included when the History comes out in permanent form.
Dated 24th May, 1998
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